A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence of the corpus delicti of this charge to support the conviction.

2. The trial court erred and denied appellant her constitutional right to present a defense by excluding expert testimony on how post-traumatic stress disorder and battered woman syndrome affected her perception of and reaction to her husband's death. U.S. Const., amends. 6, 14; Const., art. I, §§ 3, 22.

3. The trial court erred by excluding the substance of the argument and physical interactions between the defendant and the decedent in the hours leading up to his death. U.S. Const., amends. 6, 14; Const., art. I, §§ 3, 22.

4. The trial court erred by excluding all evidence of past violence by the decedent against the defendant in the years leading up to his death. U.S. Const., amends. 6, 14; Const., art. I, §§ 3, 22.

5. The trial court erred by refusing the defense proposed instruction:

If you have a reasonable doubt as to whether or not William Green committed suicide, then you must acquit Darlene.

CP 379; RP 740-42.

6. To the extent it could be deemed a "finding of fact," appellant assigns error to the trial court's statement in its memorandum opinion: "Here, neither party has requested a Frye hearing." CP 101.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Where the medical experts were unable to determine whether the gunshot was a suicide or homicide, forensic evidence supported suicide, and the defendant "confessed" to the shooting but later recanted, was there sufficient evidence of corpus delicti to permit the conviction?

2. Where the defendant immediately told her sons and police she shot her husband, but a few days later had no memory of these conversations but remembered her husband shot himself and fell onto her lap, was she entitled to present expert testimony of her psychological state, a diagnosis of PTSD and battered woman syndrome with dissociation, to explain why she would say she shot him when he shot himself?

3. Did the trial court err by excluding all evidence of the interactions between the defendant and the decedent in the 24 hours leading up to his death, including incidents of domestic violence and an "argument" that demonstrated his dementia?

4. Where the defense was based on a diagnosis of battered woman syndrome, was it error to exclude all evidence of prior domestic violence?

5. Was the defense entitled to an instruction on its theory that if the jury had a reasonable doubt whether it was a suicide, it must find the defendant not guilty?

6. Where the record shows both parties offered to conduct a Frye hearing, did the court err finding neither party requested a Frye hearing?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Substantive Facts

a. June 18, 2010

On June 18, 2010, about 4:00 p.m., 79-year-old Darlene Green called her son Brad. She said his dad was dead, she had shot him. When Brad arrived at his parents' home, his brother Kirt and the police were already there. RP 260-64.

Kirt Green flagged police down on the driveway. His mother stood on the deck of the house in her bathrobe, waving. Deputy Watson held his AR-15 assault rifle on Mrs. Green until she showed him her other hand. Then he handcuffed her and led her to his patrol car. RP 294-95.

Inside the house, sheriff's deputies found the body of William Green. He lay on the living room floor next to a recliner. A revolver was next to him on the floor. He had suffered a bullet wound between his eyes. CP 125-26; RP 276-77, 310. The chair was somewhat reclined. CP 115-16, 121-22.

Mrs. Green had blood on the front of her robe from the lap down. There was none on her torso, face, or sleeves. RP 287-88; CP 157-60.

She told Deputy Anderson, "I don't know what the big deal is. I just did what he told me to." She said she didn't know how to load or operate the gun, so her husband loaded and cocked it and told her exactly where to shoot him, and she did. RP 281-82. All day he urged her to shoot him. RP 295-98.

Mrs. Green said her husband of 57 years was suffering from Alzheimer's "real bad for the past

two or three years." She said he had been hitting and biting her, he liked to drag her around by her hair. She said she told the family about what was going on and no one would help her. She said he had gotten really bad in the past six months. CP 364 [Subno. 110 at 0009]; RP 701-02.

Deputies took four photos of Mrs. Green at the patrol car. CP 155-62; RP 320-25. There were no photos of her hands. RP 480-82.

Detective Rodrigue interviewed "that nice lady" at the precinct. RP 440-45. Mrs. Green explained it began the night before when her husband started talking about how he had sex with his sister when they were young. They argued. She went to bed to end the argument. But the next morning, he was still argumentative. RP 457-67; CP 367 [Subno. 110 at 00015.]

Mrs. Green told the detective her husband came into her bedroom that morning and told her to get up. She replied she'd get up "when she was damn good and ready." She didn't get up until about 2:00 p.m. She ate something. The two of them sat in the living room watching television. Mr. Green said he was going to the bedroom to get the gun;

she could shoot him, but she knew where she would go -- to jail. He went to the bedroom and came back with a handgun. He had to manually cock it for her, to pull the hammer back, because she didn't have the hand strength. She said he held it up to his head and leaned over her and told her to shoot him. She said she reached up, took the gun, and shot him. RP 447-49, 474-77. She called Kirt and said she shot his dad, but he didn't believe her, so she called Brad and told him. Then she went out on the front porch and waited. RP 449-50.

Detective Rodrigue asked Mrs. Green if she was injured. She showed him her left wrist where her husband had bitten her. She said he was a biter. The detective did not ask if she had any other injuries and did not photograph what he saw. RP 466-67; CP 367 [Subno. 110 at 00015]

After being booked into the jail, Mrs. Green was taken to the hospital for blood pressure problems. RP 729-30. Nursing staff noted multiple bite marks on her wrist, forehead and back. RP(1/30/2012) at 13; RP 3; CP 83.

b. Mrs. Green at Trial

At trial, Mrs. Green testified she did not kill her husband. He went into his bedroom and came out with the gun. He asked her to shoot him. She said, "No, absolutely not. Go put the gun away." He got up. She thought he was putting the gun away. She didn't look to see if he had it when he came back into the room. She was reclined in the chair with the footrest up. He said, "I only had sex ..."¹ He put the gun to his forehead, told her to "Look up here now." When she looked, she saw a big ball of white stars, then he fell onto her legs. When she lowered the footrest, he rolled off her onto the floor. She never put her hands on the gun.² RP 701-09, 720-24.

Mrs. Green did not remember telling her sons or the police that she shot her husband. She only vaguely remembered being booked into the jail. On cross-examination, she agreed she would not intentionally have tried to cause her sons emotional pain. She did not know why she would

¹ The court sustained the objection to completing this sentence. RP 705-06.

² Her hands were very arthritic. CP 249-50 (Ex. 90).

intentionally lie to the police. It took her a few days after the shooting to recall what happened. RP 709-25.

b. Police Investigation

Detective Doremus was in charge of gathering evidence at the scene. Based on his one-week basic course on blood spatter evidence, he concluded Mr. Green was leaning over the recliner when the gun fired. He took photos of the recliner in the living room, but he did not take the recliner into evidence. RP 390-92, 421-24; CP 243-48. He took Mrs. Green's and Mr. Green's clothing into evidence, but he never sent them to the crime lab. RP 403-04.

c. Autopsy

Dr. Gina Fino, the forensic pathologist, performed the autopsy. RP 329-40, 355-57; CP 163-98. Dr. Donald Reay reviewed the autopsy for the defense. RP 625-56.

Both experts agreed Mr. Green died of a contact gunshot wound to the forehead that caused immediate death. Such an injury initially caused "blowback," a fine mist of blood spatter, then almost immediately a heavy flow from the entry

wound, described as "blood dumping." Mr. Green's hands bore both kinds of blood spatter, indicating both hands had been very close to the wound. RP 340-43, 354-55, 535-36, 628-31.

Mr. Green's right hand had a powder burn and bruise on the palm. All experts agreed this hand was gripping the gun around the top of the revolver's cylinder when it fired. RP 353-54, 579-80, 629-30; CP 173-78, 279-80, 341-42.

Mr. Green's left hand had blood on the top but not the palm side. Blood spattered the base and tip of his left thumb, but left a gap with no blood across the thumb's knuckle. Dr. Fino did not explore the cause of this pattern. RP 359-960, 631-32; CP 179-88, 271-74.

Dr. Reay concluded the gap on the left thumb was consistent with the thumb having been on the trigger at the time the gun was fired. The trigger or trigger guard protected it from blood spatter. RP 631-32, 649, 654.

Dr. Fino and Dr. Reay agreed the gunshot could have been self-inflicted or inflicted by someone else. RP 362-63, 633-34, 648. The State conceded Mr. Green's left hand and left thumb could have

been in the trigger guard or on the trigger. RP 755.

Dr. Reay noted Mr. Green's blood-alcohol content of .10 was common for suicides. RP 649, 683-85.

d. Charges

The State charged Mrs. Green with second degree murder, under both intentional murder and felony murder, and the alternative charge of manslaughter in the first degree. CP 1-7.

e. Subsequent Investigation

Defense expert Kay Sweeney, founding director of the Washington State Crime Lab, studied the evidence to recreate the event. He reviewed all the photographs, examined the clothing with a microscope, and saw the actual recliner. He attempted to recreate the blood patterns on Mr. Green's left hand. RP 547-613; CP 251-350.

He concluded the lack of blood on part of Mr. Green's left thumb was caused by having that thumb on the trigger. RP 563, 580-81, 587-90; CP 267-68, 261-64, 343-52. A close-up photograph showed a shape of fingertips outlined by blood on the gun's grip consistent with Mr. Green's left thumb being

in the trigger and the fingers continuing around the grip -- in a position unlike a hand normally holding the gun and pointing it away from oneself. RP 561-63; CP 265-66.

Extensive blood on both Mr. Green's hands and shirt cuffs showed his hands had been very close to the wound when shot. RP 563-64; CP 267-70.

Under microscopic examination, Mrs. Green's long-sleeved robe had no blood spatter on the torso or cuffs. This proved her cuffs were not close to the gun when it fired. RP 584-89; CP 155-62.

Mr. Sweeney concluded Mr. Green held the gun in his right hand, wrapped over the top, and had his left thumb on the trigger when it fired. Mrs. Green's hands were not close to the gun when it fired. RP 587-90.

Blood on the top edge confirmed the recliner's footrest was extended when the gun fired, then went down while blood was flowing. RP 568-72; CP 287-98.

Darlene Green weighed 110 pounds and was less than 5' tall. RP 707-08. Mr. Green was 5'6-1/2" tall; he weighed 136 pounds. RP 350-51. With the footrest extended, the back of the recliner's seat

was 40" from the edge of the footrest. RP 571; CP 295-96.³ The gun's barrel was shorter than 5-1/2". Mr. Green's right hand was 2-1/2" to 3" from the contact wound. RP 534-35. The gun required nine pounds to pull the hammer back. The trigger-pull was 3-1/4 pounds. RP 500.

The State's crime lab analyst agreed with all the experts that Mr. Green's right hand had to be "right on" the gun's cylinder when it fired. RP 511. She could not say where his left hand was. RP 513. She could not tell if Mr. Green or someone else pulled the trigger. RP 542-43.

The fine mist of blood backspatter does not travel far; it is a small amount of blood that easily dries and is affected by gravity. RP 537. She did not examine Mrs. Green's clothing. RP 524.

f. Evidence of Domestic Violence

Mrs. Green called the police in 2006 because her husband had pushed her down. When the police arrived, she slapped her husband in front of them. The police arrested her. With considerable

³ The blood patterns on Mr. Green's pants and shoes showed the pants were against the raised footrest and the toes of the shoes were beneath the footrest. RP 571-74; CP 299-316.

ambivalence and discomfort, she accepted pretrial diversion to a misdemeanor charge. RP(1/30/12) at 21, 23-24; CP 78. As Dr. Maiuro reported:

According to Darlene, and contrary to the impression held by authorities, she had been the primary victim of a variety of forms of domestic violence and abuse perpetrated by William for nearly 10 years. Although she acknowledges that most of her marriage was "satisfactory, happy, and free [of] violence and abuse," Darlene reports that things began to change during their later years as William began to experience [a] variety of health problems, most notably the onset of memory difficulties and dementia. ...

Darlene acknowledged that both she and William engaged in [physically abusive behavior] but that William had initiated it and progressively escalated his violence to the point of recurrent physical injury to Darlene and life threatening gestures with a handgun. As the elderly couple became more and more emotionally estranged, William would reportedly become frustrated and upset when Darlene would reject his attempts at physical intimacy and would punitively lash out at her physically by grabbing her, pushing and slapping her, biting her, and dragging her around the house. A[t] times, Darlene reported that William would make self-disparaging and self-loathing remarks, retrieve his handgun, and beg and taunt Darlene to shoot him [in] the head to put him out of his misery.

In keeping with her psychological profile, Darlene was reluctant to talk about and report these events. She would, on occasion, confide in her son Kirt, that she was afraid, and ask him to

intervene. ... According to Kirt, there would be periodic calls made by both parties, reporting that the other had been violent and abusive, leading to a sense of frustration, embarrassment, and avoidance among the adult sons. ... As all of Darlene and William's children were male, with Darlene often reluctant to talk about things, the sons were reportedly inclined to believe and align themselves with the plight of their father more than Darlene. According to Kirt, "we had a traditional home life and tended to value the bread winner more than the bread maker."

CP 80.⁴

A neighbor saw the Greens yelling at each other about three months earlier. They were both on their front porch. Mrs. Green was yelling at her husband to stay away and not touch her. They yelled until they saw the neighbor, then went inside and things got quiet. CP 369 [Subno. 110 at 00017].

Kirt reported his parents had fights, some verbal and some physical. He initially reported he believed his mother had been the aggressor and his father the victim. CP 375 [Subno. 110 at 00005].

⁴ Kirt was the only son to visit his parents in recent years. Brett installed a phone block so his parents couldn't call. RP 712. Brad filed a lawsuit against his mother for wrongful death and under the slayer statute, hoping to gain part of his father's estate. RP 266-68.

After spending some time reflecting on the family's history, what he had heard and seen, he came to believe she was in fact the victim. CP 80.⁵

g. Psychological Evaluation

Dr. Roland Maiuro diagnosed Darlene Green with battered woman syndrome, a subset of post-traumatic stress disorder ("PTSD"). Her initial statements that she shot her husband, followed by complete denial, were consistent with this diagnosis. CP 77-85.

In the study of serious trauma events, it is commonly observed that individuals sometimes "step outside of themselves" or partially dissociate when they are in a state of recoil and shock. Consequently, they may attempt to piece together what has happened much as an outside observe[r] would. As Darlene observed, and apparently many others may have observed in this case, at first glance it looks like Darlene may have committed the act. This conclusion, however, would appear to be more a matter of circumstance and perception rather than reality. The present evaluation data clearly supports the presence of post-traumatic symptoms for Darlene Green associated with the shooting, supporting

⁵ "If a battered woman can be labeled as 'passively not caring about herself,' as 'hysterical,' as 'making much ado about nothing,' or characterized as a 'provocative, angry bitch who stirs up trouble and only gets what she deserves,' then others will not have to acknowledge her genuine pain." Walker, Lenore, TERRIFYING LOVE at 163 (Harper & Row, 1989).

such an interpretation in this case. The fact that she said, or may have initially thought, she was responsible for the shooting, does not necessarily mean that her current, more considered, assertion that she did not is not credible.

When pressed further about her memory and feelings at the time, Darlene added: "I am sure now that I didn't do it...but I felt to blame...that's the way it was when he was violent and abusive...he would go on and on about things, until I finally admitted it was my fault and I was to blame."

Such a tendency to subjectively self-blame, even in the absence of objective data to suggest otherwise, is a classically documented symptom of intimate partner abuse and domestic violence victimization. The fact that Darlene Green was repeatedly and severely abused and developed a mindset of inappropriately accepting blame and guilt is clearly supported in this case. This point is well illustrated and inadvertently compounded by the fact that both the legal system and some of her own family, in the throes of their misunderstanding, anger and grief, have historically reinforced this view by identifying and treating her as a perpetrator rather than a "victim defendant" of domestic violence.

CP 84-85.

h. Dementia

William Green was diagnosed in October 2009 with early stage Alzheimer's disease. Patients told early of an Alzheimer's diagnosis have an increased chance of suicide. RP 686-700.

2. Procedural Facts

a. Exclusion of Expert Testimony and Domestic Violence

The State moved in limine to exclude Dr. Maiuro's testimony, any evidence of domestic violence, any evidence of Mrs. Green's injuries found when she was arrested, and Mrs. Green's statements to the police about Mr. Green's dementia and abuse of her. CP 66-92; RP(1/30/2012) 5-25; RP 2-10, 457-67. The State argued battered woman syndrome was admissible solely for self-defense or failure to report abuse; a Frye⁶ hearing was required for this application. The defense twice offered a Frye hearing if the court believed it necessary. RP(1/30/2012) at 13-15.

The court entered a written memorandum of its ruling. CP 99-104. Because the judge did not find "dissociation and altered perception of the traumatic event during or immediately after the event" listed as a symptom of PTSD in the DSM-IV, he concluded Dr. Maiuro's theory was "novel." CP

⁶ Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), provides the admissibility standard for new scientific evidence in Washington. State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 829-30, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

101. He thus concluded a Frye hearing was necessary to see if his theory was generally accepted in the psychological community. He ultimately did not order such a hearing, because he concluded the testimony would not be helpful to the trier of fact. CP 102-03.

However, the testimony Dr. Maiuro proposes to give--that Defendant's perception of the shooting would have been different at different times due to the incredibly stressful nature of the situation--appears to be within the common knowledge of a layperson. Further, because the testimony clearly bears on Defendant's credibility, it is likely to invade the fact-finding province of the jury.

CP 102. The court ruled Dr. Maiuro could not testify regarding Mrs. Green's "Battered Spouse Syndrome and PTSD insofar as it attempts to explain her inconsistent statements about the shooting."

CP 104.

The court also excluded any evidence regarding the substance of the argument Mr. Green was having before he died; his statement just before shooting himself that he only had sex with his sister once; any evidence of previous domestic violence between the couple, and specifically that he bit Mrs. Green all over the night before; and the evidence of the

bite marks found on Mrs. Green at the hospital. RP 472-73, 704-06, 728-29.

b. Voir Dire

Jurors said the most reliable evidence of guilt is a confession. RP 135. When pressed, they said possible reasons for a false confession would be mental illness, medication, someone might blame oneself for not being there, or promises or coercion. RP 207-09.

c. Defense Proposed Instruction

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