NO. 43632-9-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DARLENE MARIE GREEN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 10-1-00438-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE
Prosecuting Attorney

JEREMY A. MORRIS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 337-7174

SERVICE

Lenell Rae Nussbaum
Market Place One, Ste 330
Seattle, Wa 98121-2161
Email: lenell@nussbaumdefense.com

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

Washington courts have previously addressed "battered woman's syndrome" and explained that the syndrome is a collection of behavioral and psychological characteristics exhibited by victims of prolonged abuse inflicted by their partners. *See, e.g., State v. Riker*, 123 Wn.2d 351, 358, 869 P.2d 43 (1994). Washington courts have admitted expert testimony on the battered person syndrome to explain a defendant's perception of threat and the reasonableness of the force employed in self-defense against that threat, and also to explain a delay in reporting abuse and a failure to leave

the abusive environment. *State v. Hanson*, 58 Wn.App. 504, 508 n. 4, 793 P.2d 1001, *review denied*, 115 Wn.2d 1033 (1990); *see also State v. Janes*, 121 Wn.2d 220, 850 P.2d 495 (1993) (expert testimony that defendant was battered was admissible to explain that defendant was “hypervigilant” and can aid the jury in evaluating the manner in which the defendant perceives the imminence of danger, and thus can assist the jury in determining whether the defendant’s belief that he was in imminent danger of serious bodily harm was reasonable under the circumstances); *State v. Allery*, 101 Wn.2d 591, 597, 682 P.2d 312 (1984) (testimony concerning battered woman syndrome admissible to explain defendant's perception of the threat and the reasonableness of the force employed in self-defense against the threat).; *State v. Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d 263, 278–79, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988).

Nevertheless, the syndrome is not an open-ended excuse for the allegedly battered spouse to use deadly force at time of convenience, nor is the syndrome a “defense in and of itself.” *State v. Walker*, 40 Wn.App. 658, 664-665, 700 P.2d 1168 (1985). Rather,

The function of evidence of the battered syndrome, offered through expert testimony, is merely to assist the trier of fact in evaluating the reasonableness of both the use of force and the degree of force used in a case involving the recognized circumstances of self-defense.

Walker, 40 Wn.App. at 664-665.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals has held that evidence of battered woman's syndrome was not admissible in a case where the Defendant claimed that the gun had fired accidentally. *State v. Hanson*, 58 Wn.App. 504, 793 P.2d 1001 (1990). In *Hanson*, the Defendant claimed that she had quarreled with her boyfriend and that she had obtained a handgun from a bedroom during the argument. *Id* at 505. The Defendant stated that the victim started laughing when he saw the gun and then grabbed her arms and began shaking her, and that during this shaking the handgun discharged accidentally, hitting the victim. *Id* at 505-06. At trial, the Defendant sought to introduce testimony from an expert on Battered Woman's Syndrome. *Id* at 507. The trial court excluded the testimony, ruling that battered woman syndrome testimony would only be relevant to a claim of self-defense. *Id*. The Court of Appeals agreed that the proposed testimony was not relevant:

The scientific basis and relevancy of such testimony in proper cases is now well established. On the facts before us, if Hanson had claimed self-defense, the testimony would have been appropriate and admissible as supportive of her apprehensions and mental state in firing the gun. However, such testimony is not supportive of the claim of accident presented here.

Hanson, 58 Wn.App. at 508.

The State acknowledges, however, that expert testimony regarding the fact that a person has been battered has previously been admitted to explain the seemingly inconsistent behavior of the victim. *See, Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d at 280 (admitting expert testimony as to battered women syndrome to help the jury understand why the victim failed to leave the relationship or report the acts of violence).

The State is aware of no case, however, where expert testimony has been admitted to show that a battered victim or defendant would suffer from false perceptions that would explain why they had falsely admitted to killing their abuser. In addition, the trial court specifically pointed out that “altered perceptions” were not listed as symptoms of PTSD in the DSM-IV and asked defense counsel if there was any literature that supported a claim that Battered Woman’s Syndrome had been found to cause a person to falsely take on responsibility for something that they have not done. Defense counsel’s response was simply,

Off the top of my head, I can’t say that there is at this point in time. It is novel, Your Honor. If the court wants to have a *Frye* hearing on it, I’m sure that can be arranged. I will check further with my doctor to see if he’s got any more literature on it.

RP (1/30/2012) 22-23. In addition, although there may be instances where expert testimony is admissible regarding false confessions, the Defendant

has cited no authority (either in the trial court or on appeal) that has held that expert testimony regarding Battered Woman's Syndrome is somehow admissible to explain an allegedly false confession.¹¹

Furthermore, in addition to failing to show that the proposed expert testimony was consistent with what was generally accepted in the scientific community, the Defendant's proposed testimony and theory actually directly contradicts the rationale behind the admission of Battered Woman's Syndrome evidence. For instance, it is well understood that main point of Battered Woman's Syndrome evidence is to explain why a battered victim might reasonably perceive a legitimate threat to his or her safety in a situation where a normal person might not perceive such a threat. Thus, the evidence is admissible to show why the victim's perceptions were in fact *reasonable*.

The Defendant's argument in the present case, however, would turn this logic on its head. Specifically, the Defendant's theory was that

¹¹ The Defendant cites a number of out of state cases where court's have found that expert testimony was admissible to support a claim of a false confession. See App.'s Br. at 34-42, citing *State v. Beagel*, 813 P.2d 699 (Alaska 1991); *State v. King*, 904 A.2d 808 (N.J. 2006); *United States v. Shay*, 57 F.3d 126 (1st Cir 1995). None of those cases, however, involve expert testimony regarding Battered Spouse Syndrome. Rather, they involve expert testimony regarding various other mental disorders ("confabulation," "fugue state," "various personality disorders," and "pseudologia fantastica") that the experts were able to tie to the claim of a false confession. The State acknowledges that there may be instances where expert testimony is admissible to explain a false confession. In the present case, however, the Defendant failed to show how the claim of Battered Woman's Syndrome would explain a false confession or be helpful to the jury. The Defendant's citations, therefore, are simply irrelevant.

although the Defendant may have initially thought that she had shot the victim, this understanding was not credible. Rather, the Defendant's perceptions were inherently *unreasonable* and *untrustworthy* due her Battered Woman's Syndrome. This claim clearly runs contrary to the accepted understanding of the role of Battered Woman's Syndrome and, if accepted, would bring into doubt every case that has admitted evidence of the syndrome to explain why a victim's perceptions of an imminent threat were, in fact, reasonable.

In short, the Defendant in the present case acknowledged that the defense expert's theory was "novel" and that the Defendant was unaware of any authority or literature that would support a finding that the defense theory was generally recognized and accepted in the scientific community. Despite the fact that the trial court specifically pointed out that "altered perceptions" were not listed as symptoms of PTSD in the DSM-IV and asked defense counsel if there was any literature that supported a claim that Battered Woman's Syndrome had been found to cause a person to falsely take on responsibility for something that they have not done, Defense counsel never provided any authority to support the defense theory nor did he ever call the defense expert to the stand to provide any additional information. Rather defense counsel merely stated, "I will check further with my doctor to see if he's got any more literature on it."

RP (1/30/2012) 22-23. Defense counsel, however, never provided any additional information.

Given all of these facts, the Defendant has fallen far short of showing an abuse of discretion. The Defendant's claim, therefore, must be rejected.

C. THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE THAT THE VICTIM HAD PREVIOUSLY BITTEN THE DEFENDANT AND THAT THE VICTIM SUFFERED FROM DEMENTIA IS WITHOUT MERIT BECAUSE: THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PRECLUDE ALL TESTIMONY REGARDING THESE ISSUES; RATHER, THE TRIAL COURT ONLY PRECLUDED THE DEFENDANT FROM INTRODUCING THESE ISSUES VIA THE SELF-SERVING HEARSAY STATEMENTS THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD MADE TO VARIOUS POLICE OFFICERS.

The Defendant next argues that the trial court erred by prohibiting the Defendant from testifying about prior instances of domestic violence; specifically, that victim had bit the Defendant the night before the shooting. App.'s Br. at 18-19. This argument is without merit, because the trial Court never ruled that *the Defendant* could not testify about the alleged domestic violence. Rather, the trial court merely prohibited the defense from introducing hearsay evidence regarding out of court statements made by the Defendant regarding those allegations. CP 103-

04.

Prior to trial the State filed a “Memorandum on ER 106” seeking to preclude the defense from introducing self serving or exculpatory hearsay statements that the Defendant made to several law enforcement officers. CP TBD (See, Sept 9, 2011 “Memorandum on ER 106”, included in the State’s Supplemental Designation of Clerk’s Papers). A hearing on this motion was held on January 30, 2012. At the hearing, the State explained that the State’s motion was not aimed at the Defendant’s own testimony (which obviously would not be hearsay if she actually took the stand), but rather was addressing whether the defense could attempt to introduce the Defendant’s self serving hearsay statements through questioning of the law enforcement officers who took statements from the Defendant. RP (1/30/2012) 9-10.

The trial court ultimately issued a written memorandum opinion in which the court held that the defendant could not attempt to introduce the Defendant’s out of court statements as they were hearsay (pursuant to ER 801) and not admissible pursuant to ER 106. CP 103-04. Specifically the trial court ruled that,

It is settled law that Washington’s ER 106 does not apply to oral statements. Defendant therefore may not cross examine State witnesses regarding the remainder of Defendant’s out of court statements pursuant to ER 106; the admissibility of out of court statements must be

evaluated under the hearsay rules.

CP 103-04.

The trial court did not, however, ever rule that the Defendant herself could not testify regarding the alleged biting. Thus Defendant's claim on appeal that the trial court excluded "any evidence" regarding the alleged biting is simply incorrect. App.'s Br. at 19. Furthermore, the Defendant's claim that "the court excluded past incidents of domestic violence, prohibiting even Mrs. Green from testifying that Mr. Green bit her all over the night before the shooting, and the bite marks seen at the hospital" is not supported by the record. App.'s Br. at 50-51.

Although the Defendant has provided several citations to the record, those portions of the record do not support the Defendant's claim. For instance, the Defendant cites to RP 472-73. *See* App.'s Br. at 19, 51. That portion of the record, however, deals solely with the issue of whether the Defendant's hearsay statements to Detective Rodrigue were admissible. RP 457-72.

Similarly, the portion of the record at RP 703-06 does not contain a ruling by the trial court limiting the Defendant's testimony. While there was an objection from the State when the Defendant interrupted her defense counsel and interjected a statement about the biting, the trial court

never ruled that the Defendant was prohibited entirely from testifying about these allegations. RP 703 Rather, the trial court merely sustained the State's objection without discussing the basis for the ruling. The record further shows that the objection was only raised after the Defendant had interrupted her attorney when he began to ask a question. The Defendant's statement, therefore, was clearly objectionable as it was non-responsive. RP 703; ER 611.

Finally, the Defendant cites to RP 728-29. See App.'s Br. at 19. Those pages of the record, however, do not relate in any way to potential testimony regarding previous domestic violence.

In short, the trial court did rule that the defense was precluded from introducing the Defendant's self-serving hearsay statements through cross examination of the police officers. See CP 103-04; RP 472. The Defendant, however, has not offered any argument or authority in the present appeal that would suggest that the trial court's hearsay rulings were incorrect. Rather, the Defendant has mischaracterized the trial court's rulings and claims that the trial court precluded the Defendant from herself testifying about the alleged biting incident. App.'s Br. at 51. The record, however, contains no such ruling from the trial court. Thus the Defendant claim is clearly without merit.

The Defendant also briefly argues that the trial court admitted

evidence of the victim's "dementia." App.'s Br. at 52. As the Defendant provides no citations to the record in this brief argument it is difficult to understand the exact argument. The record, however, shows that the defense was allowed to call a witness, Dr. Martin, who testified that the victim suffered from early stages of Alzheimer's dementia. RP 686- 90. Thus, any suggestion that the trial court excluded all evidence relating to the victim's dementia would be incorrect. The Defendant may be arguing that the victim's dementia was related to the Defendant's claim that the victim had made a statement the night before about having sex with his sister decades earlier. If this is the intended argument, the Defendant fails to explain how that alleged statement related to the dementia or is otherwise relevant, and fails to address why the out of court statement was not properly excluded as hearsay.

As mentioned previously, the State did bring a motion to prevent the introduction of certain self-serving hearsay statements made by the Defendant to several police officers. CP TBD (See, Sept 9, 2011 "Memorandum on ER 106", included in the State's Supplemental Designation of Clerk's Papers). One of the statements that the Defendant had made to Detective Rodrigue was her claim that the victim had made some statement the night before the shooting that he had sex with his sister long ago. RP 457. As mentioned above, the trial court did rule that the

Defendant was precluded from introducing any of her self-serving hearsay statements through cross-examination of the officers. CP 103-04. The record does not show that the trial court ever specifically ruled that the Defendant could not testify regarding this claim. Furthermore, the Defendant was allowed to introduce evidence regarding the Defendant's dementia. For all of these reasons the Defendant's claim regarding the exclusion of "dementia" evidence is without merit.

Furthermore, even if this Court were to assume for the sake of argument that the trial court erred in excluding evidence as claimed by the Defendant, any error in this regard was clearly harmless. The improper admission or exclusion of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole and did not affect the outcome of the trial. *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997); *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 871, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). Here the Defendant claims that the exclusion of evidence hindered the defense from showing that the Defendant may have been in a suicidal state of mind. App.'s Br. at 52. Whatever potential relevance the Defendant's comment about sleeping with his sister 50 years earlier might have had on this issue clearly paled in comparison to the uncontested evidence that the victim had retrieved the firearm, held it to his own head, and asked the Defendant

to shoot him. In short, this evidence was obviously of trivial significance the State agreed that the Defendant had held the firearm to his own head and the State did not contest that the victim had asked the Defendant to shoot him. Thus even if the trial court erred, any error was clearly harmless.

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO GIVE A JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING THE DEFENDANT'S SUMMARY OF THE CASE BECAUSE: (1) THE DEFENDANT'S INSTRUCTION WAS CONFUSING; AND (2) THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS ALLOWED THE PARTIES TO ARGUE THEIR THEORIES OF THE CASE AND PROPERLY INFORMED THE JURY OF THE APPLICABLE LAW.

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